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          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen, and thank you for taking the

          4  time to attend today's hearing of the Committee on

          5  Mental Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug

          6  Abuse, and Disability Services.  My name is

          7  Margarita Lopez, and I am the Chair of this

          8  Committee.

          9                 At this moment, I would like to

         10  introduce the members of the Committee that are

         11  currently present, and the staff of this Committee.

         12  Beginning with my left, I am going to ask the first

         13  Council member next to me to introduce themselves,

         14  and then to identify the district from where they

         15  come.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Good

         17  morning.  My name is Joe Addabbo, Council member for

         18  the 32nd Council District.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMAR:  Good morning.

         20  I am Council member Annabel Palma, District 18 in

         21  the Bronx.

         22                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Good morning.  My name

         23  is Maria DePedro, Counsel to the Committee.

         24                 MS. CULP:  Good morning.  I am

         25  Jennifer Culp, Legislative Policy Analyst for the
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          2  Committee.

          3                 MR. WALLACE:  Good morning.  Andrew

          4  Wallace, City Council Finance Division.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And in the last

          6  hearing that I was I realize, that we never

          7  acknowledge the presence of the Sergeant- at- Arms,

          8  in our chambers.  And I am going to begin doing that

          9  for the first time today.  I want to apologize to

         10  them, for never doing that before.  It was really, a

         11  silly attitude of mine, and I apologize to you.

         12  Both of them are in this part, you always will see

         13  them dressed with a navy blue coat, suit and gray

         14  pants.  And if they can say their names to you in

         15  the record, that would be nice for you to know that

         16  they are the people in charge of keeping the order

         17  in here.

         18                 MR. MARTINEZ:  Israel Martinez.

         19                 MR. COLLAZO:  Sergeant- at- Arm

         20  Heriberto Collazo.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And anytime that

         22  you need to bring papers to us, or something like

         23  that, they are in charge of doing that.  And they

         24  will keep the order in this place, including for

         25  those people who do not get quiet, when they are
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          2  told to be quiet.  Thank you.

          3                 Please keep in mind that it is a busy

          4  day here at the Council.  So, there will be Council

          5  members coming in and out of this hearing.  Today

          6  the Committee will convene to consider three

          7  resolutions proposed, Resolution No. 140- A,

          8  proposed Resolution No. 443- A, and Resolution No.

          9  587.

         10                 Proposed Resolution No. 140- A, will

         11  go up to Congress to adopt, and the President to

         12  enact legislation that would promote greater parity,

         13  in the provision of mental health services.  At the

         14  Council we are very aware that the delivery of

         15  competent mental health care services represents a

         16  greater public health concern, especially, when

         17  researchers tell us that one out of every five

         18  Americans experience mental health problems and

         19  illnesses.

         20                 As we know, mental health is from the

         21  mental to our overall health and productivity.  And

         22  if left untreated, can a serious toll on society.

         23                 Resolution No. 587, will declare the

         24  month of October as National Disability Employment

         25  Awareness Month, in New York City, from here on.
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          2                 I would like to add that I am proud

          3  of the City Council for coming forward with a strong

          4  resolution that urge a much needed acknowledgment of

          5  the contributions, talents, skills, and dedications

          6  of workers with disabilities, who are a vital part

          7  of our workforce.

          8                 And finally, proposed Resolution No.

          9  443- A, will urge Governor Pataki and the New York

         10  State Office of Mental Health, to request that the

         11  Federal Emergency Management Agency reopen the

         12  Project Liberty Program, which provides counseling

         13  to individuals, families and group, who were

         14  seriously traumatize by September 11, 2001,

         15  terrorist attacks in New York City.

         16                 As the prime sponsor of this

         17  Resolution, I would like to state that this

         18  Committee has been active on this issue, holding two

         19  related oversight hearings.  After September 11th,

         20  approximately $132 million were provided by FEMA,

         21  for mental health services.  The State Department of

         22  Mental Health administered this fund, and in turn,

         23  established Project Liberty. Some groups received

         24  Project Liberty monies, but many others did not and

         25  they continue to provide mental health services to

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  many first responders and area workers.

          3                 It is very important to know that

          4  Oklahoma City received five years worth of FEMA

          5  funding after Oklahoma City Bombing.  But in New

          6  York, the funding effectively ceased in December 31,

          7  2003.  Only two years following the terrorist

          8  attack, fire fighters, medical workers, residents,

          9  and so many others continue to suffer through the

         10  consequences of the attack. And that is why it is

         11  very sad, and very unacceptable, that the Governor

         12  of the State of New York did not request an

         13  extension of all the monies needed to help New

         14  Yorkers.

         15                 It is appalling, that New Yorkers

         16  are, once again, been left to fend for themselves.

         17  Before we begin to hear testimony on these three

         18  resolutions, I would also like to give the sponsors

         19  of the resolution an opportunity to share a few

         20  words about the resolution they have introduced.

         21                 Please, Council Member Joseph

         22  Addabbo, the prime sponsor of Resolution No. 587,

         23  the floor is yours.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         25  Madam Chair. And I first want to thank my fine and

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  good friend, colleague, Margarita Lopez, for

          3  allowing us to have hearing today, and for her

          4  staff, and the Committee's staff, and my colleagues

          5  for their support on Reso. 587.

          6                 As we acknowledge the hundreds of

          7  thousands of individual residents who are not

          8  deterred by their disabilities, and make a

          9  contribution, a positive contribution, in our City

         10  workforce.  And for those who have disabilities, and

         11  who are students, who are in school trying to get a

         12  career or seek employment, and again who are not

         13  deterred by their disability.  So that in October we

         14  can acknowledge these individuals for their positive

         15  contribution, in being in our workforce, having a

         16  disability, and acknowledging them by thinking of

         17  them, thanking them, and when appropriate assisting

         18  them in their endeavors.

         19                 So, again, Margarita, thank you very

         20  much for having this hearing, and good morning to

         21  all.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment I

         23  am going to ask Council Member Gentile to introduce

         24  himself, and identify the district that he

         25  represents, please.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair. Council Member Vincent Gentile, 43rd

          4  District, Brooklyn, New York.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We are going to

          6  proceed right now, with the hearings.  Council

          7  Member Helen Foster has been detained in traffic,

          8  but she will be here soon.  As soon as she arrives,

          9  we will allow her to make a statement in regard to

         10  the resolution that she introduced.

         11                 Please call the first testimony.

         12                 MS. DE PEDRO:  We will begin with

         13  Resolution No. 587.  And the panel will consist of

         14  Sara Kaye, and Susan Chin, Assistant Director,

         15  Political Action, DC37.

         16                 Yes, will you please raise your hand?

         17    And will you swear, or affirm that the testimony

         18  that you will provide will be truthful in all

         19  concerns?

         20                 ALL:  I do.

         21                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Thank you.  Ms. Kaye,

         22  you may begin.

         23                 MS. KAYE:  I am here today, first, to

         24  thank all of you for taking the time to hear these

         25  testimonies, and for taking into consideration the

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  fact that a disability should not stop one from

          3  achieving their goals in life.

          4                 I speak first- hand on the issue.  I

          5  was born without half of my arm.  I must admit that

          6  it is sometimes an uncomfortable felling when people

          7  as what happened, and why? However, this has never

          8  stopped me from doing what I wanted in life.

          9                 At a very young age, I realized that

         10  I had a desire to work with children, and impact

         11  their life in some way. Since the age of 13, I have

         12  been a volunteer at the S.T.A.R.S. Youth Center, in

         13  Howard Beach, Queens.  I have performed a variety of

         14  tasks there, ranging from instructing the Arts and

         15  Crafts classes to conducting a Drama Workshop, to

         16  helping young girls talk out their problems, and

         17  improve their self- esteem.  At the present time, I

         18  am a hip hop instructor at this program, which is

         19  run strictly by volunteers.

         20                 In addition to my volunteer

         21  experience, I successfully graduated from high

         22  school, and I am currently attending Queensborough

         23  Community College, with the aspirations of someday

         24  becoming an elementary school teacher.

         25                 Aside from volunteering and going to
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          2  school, I am also a Sales Representative at Bath and

          3  Body Works.  This is what I believe has the most

          4  impact on the decision today.  Most importantly, my

          5  disability has not stopped me from entering into the

          6  workforce.  I am just as capable as any of the other

          7  employees, but some may have turned me away.  In

          8  addition to being one of the fastest employees,

          9  according to my manager, I am also one of their most

         10  dedicated workers.  I am grateful that I was not

         11  discriminated against because of my disability.

         12                 In closing, my disability has not

         13  stopped me from what I wanted to do in life.  And I

         14  am hopeful that this trend will continue in the

         15  future.  For these reasons, I am thankful that the

         16  City Council is taking the time to hold this

         17  hearing, and take into consideration the disabled

         18  persons that actively take part in the workforce of

         19  our city.  I think this is a good piece of

         20  legislation, because it will probably encourage many

         21  other employers to give those with disabilities a

         22  chance to do what they want in life.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. CHIN:  Good morning, Council

         25  Member Margarita Lopez, and members of the Mental
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          2  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse,

          3  and Disability Services Committee.  My name is Susan

          4  Chin, and I am Assistant Director in DC37's

          5  Political Action and Legislation Department.

          6                 On the 14th Anniversary of the

          7  Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, we commend

          8  this Committee, and Council Member Joseph Addabbo's

          9  sponsorship of this Resolution 587.

         10                 It is important that we recognize the

         11  contributions that workers with disabilities have

         12  made in the work place.  We at DC37, urge the

         13  federal government to observe the month of October

         14  as National Disability Employment Awareness Month.

         15  We must also recognize the talent and skills of

         16  disabled workers.  We must push to fight to ensure

         17  that people with disabilities receive adequate

         18  training and services they need.

         19                 Fourteen years later, they have

         20  received education and training, but we believe that

         21  they can go further, and people with disabilities

         22  need more training and education in the workforce.

         23                 On behalf of Executive Director,

         24  Lillian Roberts, and the 121,000 members of DC37, we

         25  congratulate the City Council on its foresight, and
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          2  believe this resolution is a good idea.

          3                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

          4  before your Committee today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  At

          6  this moment any questions from the members of the

          7  Council?  I have questions.

          8                 I just want to know, does DC37 have a

          9  unit in which members of the disabled community can

         10  file complaints in regard of discriminatory

         11  practices against them by the employers in the

         12  government not providing accommodation?

         13                 MS. CHIN:  We do have a Human Rights

         14  Office, and we do have workers who work there.  So

         15  the City has a Human Rights Office, and then we also

         16  have, they have EEOC Officers also in the workforce.

         17    So they do file complaints within those

         18  organizations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Does the union

         20  collect data on this information, in anyway that can

         21  be used for us to look at it, in the context of, and

         22  I am looking at this point in the context of

         23  accommodation, because the resolution that Council

         24  Member Addabbo has put forward, is critical that

         25  people with disabilities, once they are able to
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          2  acquire the employment, because we know that they

          3  get discriminated before they get into the

          4  employment possibility, that once they are there,

          5  that accommodation is part of what the City

          6  employment workforce take into consideration.

          7                 Therefore, the reason that I am

          8  looking at that is I want to see how disabled

          9  individuals, who are able work, and members of the

         10  union, can proceed with protecting their right when

         11  accommodation is required.  Does the union

         12  accumulate any information on this?

         13                 MS. CHIN:  Not that I am aware of,

         14  but I can check with our Research Department to see

         15  if we do, do that, and our various, our committee

         16  chairs, as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It would be good

         18  for us to receive that information, if by any chance

         19  you have it.  Because as a result of Council Member

         20  Addabbo, putting forward this resolution, this

         21  Committee is going to be looking into a question of

         22  accommodation at the City level, employment

         23  opportunity.  And see how many of the members of the

         24  disabled community continue to maintain their job,

         25  instead of being out, by lack of accommodation
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          2  criteria.  Then, I am looking forward to getting

          3  that information from you.

          4                 In regard with Ms. Kaye, thank you

          5  very much for coming here today to testify.  I have

          6  a series of questions that I would like to ask you.

          7  I hope that you do not take it as I am offending

          8  you, because that is not my intention.  I understand

          9  disabilities as a different way of being able to do

         10  something. And sometimes the disabled community get

         11  upset with me, because I do not use the word

         12  disable, I tend to use the word different able.

         13                 MS. KAYE:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is the way I

         15  understand disabilities.  Then I hope that you do

         16  not get offended by the questions that I am going to

         17  ask you.

         18                 MS. KAYE:  No, go ahead.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When you began

         20  seeking employment, was it difficult for you to find

         21  based on the understanding that you would not be

         22  able to perform, because you will not have the same

         23  manner in performing your duties, by having

         24  different ways of doing this with the two hands that

         25  you have?
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          2                 MS. KAYE:  Not really. I mean,

          3  personally it stopped me from going to certain jobs.

          4    This is actually my first real job that I went to.

          5    And they oversaw the disability, because the first

          6  night I was working I actually handled boxes, so

          7  they saw that I can do everything else that everyone

          8  else can do.  That is why, I have been there for a

          9  year- and- a- half already.  And they kept me on

         10  because of the fact that, I am disabled and I can

         11  do.  I am actually ten times as fast as some of the

         12  workers there.  So they overlook that.  Which is

         13  amazing because it stopped me from actually going to

         14  certain other stores to actually seek other

         15  employment.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, but you

         17  said that you avoid looking for certain jobs,

         18  because you felt that in those jobs they would not

         19  give you a fair chance.  That is correct that you

         20  said that?

         21                 MS. KAYE:  Yes, in a way.  I went to

         22  jobs and like, and if I felt like they were focusing

         23  on that too much, I would, like, decline it, you

         24  know.  Yes, I avoided going to some jobs, because I

         25  knew that myself, I could not handle it.  If I
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          2  cannot handle a certain job, I am not going to that

          3  job and- -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But that means

          5  that you, in a way, are ignoring the law, that

          6  indicates that people have to be accommodated

          7  according to their capacities.  There is a law in

          8  place that exists, that says, that you cannot be

          9  stopped from acquiring a job, when the law indicates

         10  that accommodations have to be made- -

         11                 MS. KAYE:  Made, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - - for people who

         13  have particular disabilities.  Let's take the case

         14  of somebody in a wheelchair, for example, you cannot

         15  prevent a person who is in a wheelchair to do a

         16  particular task, as long as they can perform the

         17  task because there is not a ramp to come into the

         18  building, for example.  Accommodations have to be

         19  made.  That is what I am saying.

         20                 MS. KAYE:  Yes, of course.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, it is true

         22  for what I hear you saying, that when accommodations

         23  are not made, will stop people with disability, even

         24  from applying for the job, because they will think

         25  that they will not be allowed to even compete for
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          2  that job.  That is something that exists for you?

          3  Not understanding me?

          4                 MS. KAYE:  No.  Sorry.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Let me

          6  paraphrase it. You are putting a barrier on

          7  yourself, in not applying to particular jobs,

          8  because you understand that there is not a chance

          9  for you to take that job.

         10                 MS. KAYE:  Because they will not

         11  accommodate me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Correct?

         13                 MS. KAYE:  Not, it is a personal

         14  issue that I have with myself.  I know that there is

         15  a law out there that says that the job has to

         16  accommodate you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, but the

         18  personal issue, you can have a personal issue, the

         19  question is, that the places have to announce and

         20  advertise that they are an employer who does not

         21  discriminate.

         22                 MS. KAYE:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And that they

         24  have to provide accommodations.

         25                 MS. KAYE:  Of course, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, I am

          3  bringing this to the table because it is very rare

          4  that I hear people challenging the conditions that

          5  exist today in our City, about acquiring jobs in

          6  certain places.  And it is time for people with

          7  disabilities to begin challenging the system.

          8                 MS. KAYE:  Exactly.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is what I am

         10  trying to say.  And that was the reason I asked you

         11  the question.  I wanted to know if, for you, you

         12  will choose not to apply to certain jobs because you

         13  do not want to go through the hassle of having to

         14  prove yourself, when accommodations are suppose to

         15  be part of the game.  And that is what I was asking.

         16                 MS. KAYE:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, you agree

         18  with that?

         19                 MS. KAYE:  Yes, I do, yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You do.  Okay,

         21  then do you think that there is enough education and

         22  notification to people with disabilities, that they

         23  can go and apply for these jobs, and that the law

         24  will protect them, and give them the opportunity to

         25  prove that they can do and perform the particular
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          2  task that is given to them no matter what?  Or do

          3  you think that more information needs to be put in

          4  place, and education need to be done for the purpose

          5  of making people who suffer from disabilities to be

          6  aware that they can compete for those jobs?

          7                 MS. KAYE:  I think that the person

          8  with a disability should be able to go into the

          9  interview feeling confident about themselves.  And

         10  if they need to ask questions about how they can

         11  feel more comfortable about working at the job.  But

         12  I think they should be able to go into any store and

         13  ask for an application, or ask for a job opening,

         14  and be able to see that they can do it, without

         15  having to have all the advertised out.  And if they

         16  learn later on that they cannot do it, then I think

         17  that they should at least try, at least go into the

         18  store, or into the office, or into the building, and

         19  at least sit there and see what they can and cannot

         20  do.

         21                 I think a person with a disability

         22  can anything that they set their heart to do.  And I

         23  think they would be great at it, if they just gave

         24  it a little bit of try, and a little bit of effort

         25  into it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But then the

          3  opportunities that are out there for people are not

          4  clear, because apparently from what you said before,

          5  you do not even apply to certain jobs because you

          6  understand there is not going to be no chance on

          7  doing that.  Then we need to therefore, look more

          8  into the question of education to educate the public

          9  at large, and people with disabilities to know that

         10  they are entitled to apply for those jobs.  The only

         11  way that they can be dismissed, is if they cannot

         12  perform the task.  Correct?

         13                 MS. KAYE:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If I am putting

         15  you in a difficult position, I apologize.

         16                 MS. KAYE:  Oh, no, no, it is okay.

         17  See the reason that I did not apply to some jobs is

         18  because I did not feel like, like, it was the kind

         19  of job that I personally could not do, not because I

         20  am disabled, but because I personally could not do.

         21  So I know, me being disabled, I can do anything.  I

         22  can actually do more than a person with two hands

         23  can do, and I know that.  My disability did not stop

         24  me from going to the store.  It was just personally,

         25  that I felt that I could not, not because of my
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          2  disability, but because I could not do it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          4                 MS. KAYE:  My disability has never

          5  stopped from doing anything in my life, ever.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Would you say

          7  that we need to put in place a more aggressive

          8  educational campaign, in regard of advertising more

          9  for the opportunities of people with disabilities to

         10  apply for different jobs in different places?

         11                 MS. KAYE:  If the job requires more

         12  advertisement to make the people feel more

         13  comfortable, than yes they should.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.

         15    Any other member of the panel?  Anne Emerman, I do

         16  not know why you are there, but you are suppose to

         17  be here.

         18                 MS. EMERMAN: (Not speaking into the

         19  microphone)

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I understand, but

         21  you are part of this staff, you should come to the

         22  front.  This is Anne Emerman the Senior Staff to the

         23  Committee.  And the only reason that Anne Emerman

         24  had to be in front, is because these chambers are

         25  not wheelchair accessible, and do not have
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          2  accommodation for people with disabilities.  And I

          3  want to mention that one more time, as I always do

          4  in my Committee hearings, to make people aware of

          5  how accommodation is not made possible in the City

          6  Council and in the chambers.  Please can you

          7  introduce yourself?

          8                 MS. EMERMAN:  Anne Emerman, Senior

          9  Staff to Committee.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

         11  want to remind the public that as long as we put

         12  barriers for people, in order not to be able to be

         13  part of the working force, they are going to be

         14  prevented from being able to being part of the

         15  working force. And this is a perfect example of what

         16  I was talking about, how my staff member of the

         17  Committee of Disability cannot come in the same

         18  area, where the other staff members are.  Because

         19  the way that we design things, architecturally

         20  speaking impair people from being part of society,

         21  not because they cannot do the particular job that

         22  they need to do and perform.

         23                 I want to thank the panel for

         24  testifying today.  I thank you, and I am looking

         25  forward for the Committee, from the Union DC37, in
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          2  bringing this information forward.  And perhaps

          3  Council Member Addabbo and I should do a follow- up

          4  Committee hearing on this matter, and look into the

          5  question of how the public force is being

          6  accommodated when the person has or developed a

          7  disability and no longer can perform in the same way

          8  that they used to, but can perform in a different

          9  way.

         10                 Thank you very much.  Council Member

         11  Stewart, can you introduce yourself, please?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Council

         13  Member Stewart from Central Brooklyn.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The next speaker.

         15                 MS. DE PEDRO:  The next panel will be

         16  for proposed Resolution No. 140.  And Evelyn Roberts

         17  from NAMI- New York City Metro, and Janet Steinman

         18  from the Association of the Bar of the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 At this moment, will you please raise

         21  your hand, and swear or affirm that the testimony

         22  that you will provide, will be truthful in all

         23  concerns?

         24                 ALL:  I do.

         25                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Thank you, and Ms.
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          2  Roberts you may begin.

          3                 MS. ROBERTS:  My name is Evelyn

          4  Roberts.  I am Executive Director of the National

          5  Alliance for the Mentally Ill of New York City.  I

          6  would like to thank the Committee and its Chair,

          7  Council Member Lopez, for putting forward Resolution

          8  No. 140, calling upon Congress to adopt and the

          9  President to enact legislation that would promote

         10  greater parity in the provision of mental health

         11  services.

         12                 On April 29, 2002, President George

         13  W. Bush, announcing his support for parity

         14  legislation, and appointing his "New Freedom"

         15  Commission on Mental Health, identified three

         16  obstacles preventing Americans with mental illnesses

         17  from getting the excellent care they deserve.

         18                 The first, the stigma that surrounds

         19  mental illnesses.

         20                 The second, unfair treatment

         21  limitations and financial requirements placed on

         22  mental health benefits in private health insurance.

         23                 And three, the fragmented mental

         24  health service delivery system.

         25                 President Bush said, "Americans must
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          2  understand and send this message:  Mental disability

          3  is not a scandal, it is an illness.  And like

          4  physical illness, it is treatable, especially when

          5  the treatment comes early."

          6                 I could not have said it better

          7  myself, Mr. President.

          8                 The Senator Paul Wellstone Mental

          9  Health Equitable Treatment Act of 2003, prohibits

         10  employee group health plans that are providing both

         11  medical- surgical and mental health benefits from

         12  imposing mental health treatment limitations or

         13  financial requirements, unless comparable

         14  limitations and requirements are imposed upon

         15  medical- surgical benefits.

         16                 This bill expands upon the 1996

         17  Mental Health Parity Act, which only addressed

         18  insurance plans' lifetime and annual limits.  The

         19  Wellstone bill goes on to prohibit disparity between

         20  mental and other health benefits through treatment

         21  limitations, for example, limits on the frequency of

         22  treatment, the number of visits, the number of

         23  covered hospital days, or other limits on the scope

         24  and duration of treatment, or financial

         25  requirements, that is deductibles, coinsurance, co-
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          2  payments and catastrophic maximums.

          3                 In other words, the Wellstone Act

          4  will extend to most Americans the equitable coverage

          5  of mental illnesses already available to federal

          6  employees, and to members of Congress, under the

          7  Federal Employees Health Benefit Plan Program.  It

          8  is ironic, although perhaps, not surprising that

          9  members of Congress have failed to share this

         10  important benefit with the American people.        They

         11  know and we know that untreated mental illness cost

         12  American businesses, government, and families at

         13  least $79 billion annually in lost productivity and

         14  unemployment, broken lives, broken families,

         15  emergency room visits, homelessness, and unnecessary

         16  use of jails and prisons.

         17                 They know that mental illnesses, such

         18  as, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major

         19  depression, obsessive compulsive disorder, and

         20  severe anxiety disorders are real illnesses.

         21                 They know that treatment for mental

         22  illness works, if you can get it.  Treatment

         23  efficacy rates for most severe mental illnesses

         24  exceed those for heart disease and diabetes.

         25                 They know that there is simply no
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          2  scientific or medical justification for insurance

          3  coverage of mental illness treatment to be on

          4  different terms and conditions than other diseases.

          5                 They know that discriminatory

          6  insurance coverage of mental illness bankrupts

          7  families, and places a tremendous burden on

          8  taxpayers through suicide, homelessness, and

          9  inappropriate criminalization of mental illness.

         10                 They know that parity is affordable

         11  for employers and health plans; the Congressional

         12  Budget Office estimates that the Wellstone Act will

         13  result in premium increases of only 0.9 percent,

         14  costs that are far outweighed by lower absenteeism

         15  and higher productivity when mental illness is

         16  treated earlier.

         17                 There is no reason for further study,

         18  or delay. Congress must pass, and the President must

         19  sign the Senator Paul Wellstone Mental Health

         20  Equitable Treatment Act Law now.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MS. STEINMAN:  Good morning, Madam

         23  Chairwoman, and members of the Committee.  I am

         24  afraid my testimony is handwritten scribbles from

         25  the middle of last night, but I will have it typed
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          2  up and sent to you.  My name is Janet Steinman, and

          3  I am testifying, as I did earlier this year, in

          4  three capacities, as a representative of the

          5  Association of the Bar of the City of New York, as a

          6  person with a mental illness, and as the mother of a

          7  child with a mental illness.

          8                 And I have three points to make.  We

          9  must eradicate the unfounded prejudices against

         10  psychiatric patients. And we must have equal access

         11  to insurance, to medical- - Sorry I cannot read my

         12  scribble.  And we must have parity regarding access

         13  to medical benefits.

         14                 And third, this is for the purpose of

         15  saving lives.

         16                 The City Bar Association has been a

         17  vigorous supporter of mental health parity

         18  legislation, on both the State and Federal levels.

         19  We submitted a report in support of mental health

         20  parity to Albany, in the spring of this year.

         21                 According to current federal law,

         22  patients only have parity in employer sponsored

         23  health plans for annual and lifetime dollar limits.

         24  The current law does not require parity for mental

         25  health benefits with physical health benefits, for
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          2  co payments, deductibles, in- patient/out- patient

          3  treatment, or for substance abuse.  Many people do

          4  not seek treatment for mental illness, and many are

          5  forced to prematurely stop treatment because they

          6  can no longer afford it.

          7                 Depression, bipolar disorder, and

          8  schizophrenia are potentially fatal diseases.  These

          9  are the people who commit suicide.  As a society, we

         10  value taking care to see that victims of heart

         11  disease, cancer, and other serious illnesses are

         12  first given enough treatment to stay alive.  And

         13  secondly, are treated enough to have as much quality

         14  of life as possible.  And third, hopefully cured.

         15  Why should psychiatric illnesses be treated any

         16  differently?

         17                 Having health insurance parity would

         18  also go a long way in decreasing the myths about

         19  mental disorders, that you can "pull yourself

         20  together", that it is really a character flaw, that

         21  you really have control over your behavior.

         22                 The City Bar Association strongly

         23  urges the adoption of Resolution No. 140, calling

         24  upon Congress and the President to enact the Federal

         25  Mental Health Equitable Treatment Act, and any other
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          2  legislation to achieve parity between medical and

          3  surgical health benefits, and psychiatric health

          4  benefits.

          5                 As I stated earlier, I am also an

          6  individual with a psychiatric disorder.  I suffered

          7  from Dysthymic Depression for decades.  In 1998, I

          8  was diagnosed with major depression and

          9  hospitalized.   Later that year, I had hypomanic

         10  episodes and severe mood swings.  I was hospitalized

         11  a second time, and this time diagnosed with bipolar

         12  disorder.  I am currently taking five medications,

         13  and I go to psychotherapy twice a week.

         14                 Fortunately, I have good insurance

         15  that covers all of this.  Many, many people do not.

         16  During one of my hospitalizations, there was another

         17  patient who was on 24- hour suicide watch.  She

         18  tried to stab herself with whatever she could put

         19  her hands on, including plastic spoons.  I hope she

         20  did not have to leave the hospital too early,

         21  because her insurance coverage ran out.

         22                 I also have many close relatives who

         23  never called or visited me in the hospital.  Who

         24  have never asked how I felt, or said they were sorry

         25  I got sick.  It is as if nothing happened, or as if
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          2  my illness has to be hidden.

          3                 I have a beautiful 15- year- old son,

          4  who runs track, swims, works part- time at a book

          5  store, is a very talented artist, and is

          6  particularly talented in math and science.  He also

          7  has Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder,

          8  Asperger's Syndrome, and Tourette's Syndrome.  He

          9  was hospitalized when he was six- years- old, when

         10  he became uncontrollably violent.  The day after he

         11  was admitted, a ten- year- old boy who had attempted

         12  suicide was admitted.

         13                 About one week into my son's

         14  hospitalization, the doctor in charge of the unit

         15  started making broad hints that my son would be

         16  discharged soon.  It was clear to me that he would

         17  not be able to function on the outside, and that I

         18  was not capable of taking care of him.

         19                 Another piece of dumb luck.  I have

         20  friends who are lawyers who handle the malpractice

         21  defense for this particular hospital.  And they were

         22  able to put me in touch with the Risk Manager, who

         23  apparently contacted the doctor.  The next morning

         24  the doctor screamed at me, and I do mean screamed,

         25  for going over her head.  But my son got to stay in
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          2  the hospital for several extra days.

          3                 The bill for my son's hospital stay

          4  was $20,000. All of it covered by insurance.  Many,

          5  many people are not so lucky.  And also, neither of

          6  my son's grandparents, nor any of his aunts and

          7  uncles called or visited him while he was in the

          8  hospital.

          9                 This country is in desperate need to

         10  treat mental illnesses the same as physical

         11  illnesses, especially in providing parity in

         12  insurance coverage.  As an individual I support the

         13  adoption of Resolution No. 140.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you both of

         16  you for your testimony.  Any questions from the

         17  Council members?  Yes, Council Member Gentile.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair. I am just curious, what are the

         20  prospects for the Wellstone Act now, and what

         21  lobbying efforts have your group, NAMI, has done to

         22  advance that legislation in Congress?

         23                 MS. ROBERTS:  Right now, really

         24  nothing is going on.  There is just too much other

         25  stuff going on.  And this has really been shoved
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          2  aside, for close to a year- and- a- half, since

          3  January 2003.  There has been very little activity,

          4  partly because of the war, I would guess.

          5                 Our National organization continues

          6  to lobby for this and other legislation, however.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Madam Chair,

          8  I just might add that I am very well aware of the

          9  New York City group having been in Albany, and the

         10  lobbying efforts that they have in Albany is that we

         11  are quite extensive.  And certainly they have taught

         12  many Albany legislators the lack of parity issue on

         13  health coverage, and medical benefits.  And

         14  certainly, for those of us who listened, we have

         15  been advocates for parity in mental health areas.

         16  Certainly, this is a great Resolution, something

         17  that I can enthusiastically support.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any other Council

         19  member?  No. Ms. Roberts, I have two questions for

         20  you.

         21                 1.  The National Alliance of the

         22  Mentally Ill is supporting the move of the Governor

         23  of the State of New York, in regard of Medicaiding

         24  (phonetic) mental illness, as is being proposed by

         25  his office right now.   Because the issue that we
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          2  are discussing here today is definitely

          3  interconnected, and as the Chair of this Committee,

          4  I have seen how Medicaid can destroy the little bit

          5  of mental health that we have here, if this idea is

          6  not implemented appropriately and adequately.   What

          7  is the position of your organization on that?

          8                 MS. ROBERTS:  On PROS you mean?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         10                 MS. ROBERTS:  Well, there seem to be

         11  some benefits, from our point of view, in terms of

         12  PROS focus on family psycho-education as part of the

         13  new treatment model.  But we, like the City of New

         14  York, have many reservations as to how pros is going

         15  to be implemented.  And how that implementation will

         16  effect and possibly constrict the flow of services

         17  to consumers in the City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The reason I ask

         19  you is because we vote in here on the Resolution,

         20  that is trying to make sure that Mental Health

         21  Services exists, but then with this other idea

         22  coming from the State, it is like a contradiction,

         23  unless these things are implemented appropriately.

         24                 MS. ROBERTS:  Well, we are talking

         25  about two different streams of money, though.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          3                 MS. ROBERTS:  Yes, right the parity

          4  legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I am aware, but

          6  it is the same issue.

          7                 MS. ROBERTS:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It is the same

          9  issue of refusing to acknowledge that mental

         10  illnesses and mental health is the same as having

         11  cancer.  The only difference is that with cancer you

         12  die in three months, with mental illness you die in

         13  a slow killing, because the State does not provide

         14  the services necessary.

         15                 MS. ROBERTS:  Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I mean that is

         17  the way I see this.

         18                 MS. ROBERTS:  Yes, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Ms.

         20  Steinman, I thank you very much for coming to

         21  testify here today.  I am very aware of how

         22  difficult it is to be able to come out of the closet

         23  in any issue that we are told that we need to hide

         24  ourselves.  And I speak from personal experience.

         25  Then, you are a hero of mine, I want you to know.
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          2                 MS. STEINMAN:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  For standing

          4  there, for coming out of the closets on things that

          5  nobody needs to be hiding from, or satisfy society

          6  in the prejudices that they have.  And I thank you

          7  for coming here to put in front of everybody, your

          8  personal story, and your personal situation to

          9  educate the public, and more important, to educate

         10  government and elected officials.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MS. STEINMAN:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Than at this

         14  moment we are going to vote on the resolutions that

         15  we have.  Please, can we proceed?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

         17  to add my names to the Resolutions 148, 443- A, and

         18  587.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any other Council

         20  member would like to do that at this moment?  Okay

         21  than let's proceed with roll call.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Sure, Madam

         23  Chair I would also like to add my name to the- -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  To the three?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: - - to the two,
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          2  one of them I am already on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, to two, I am

          4  sorry.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Likewise,

          6  Madam Chair, to the three.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lopez.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment I

         10  would like to exercise the prerogative of the Chair.

         11    Today we are looking at three resolutions.  Three

         12  resolutions that, for many people may be about

         13  symbolism.  I want to make very clear that symbolism

         14  is what moves society.  Without symbols societies

         15  cannot sustain themselves.  It was a time, a moment

         16  in our nation, in which slavery was okay.  And it

         17  was a time, a moment, in which men and women of this

         18  country stood up and began putting resolutions

         19  forward against slavery.  It is with resolutions

         20  that we may gain movement of elimination of

         21  injustice and unfairness.  And it is with

         22  resolutions that we accomplish changing the minds

         23  and the views of a society.

         24                 Today we are going to vote on three

         25  resolutions. Each and everyone of them is speaking
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          2  about the way that we conduct business in our

          3  nation, and it is challenging our nation to change

          4  the way that they do business.  It is asking for

          5  people with disabilities to be recognized as full

          6  and able bodies, if opportunities are given.  It is

          7  asking for parity in funding for people who suffer

          8  different kind of illnesses.  In our nation we

          9  believe that when you suffer from a physical

         10  illness, you can be taken care of, but when you

         11  suffer from mental illness, you are a bother, and

         12  you should not be taken care of.  We need to change

         13  that.  We need to become an enlightened society.

         14  And this resolution is seeking to do that.

         15                 For those reasons, I vote aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Stewart.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gentile.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Palma.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMAR:  Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of four in

         23  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         24  abstentions, all resolutions are adopted.  Council

         25  members please sign the Committee Reports.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We are going to

          4  leave open the record for the purpose of voting.  At

          5  this moment, I want to again, thank both of you for

          6  coming forward, and I am looking forward to continue

          7  seeing you in these chambers advocating for the

          8  things that we hold true and fair.  Because it is

          9  not.  We can kiss goodbye our democratic country.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 MS. DE PEDRO:  And for our last

         12  panel, in favor of Resolution 443, will be Meggan

         13  Christman, from the Coalition of Voluntary Mental

         14  Health Agencies.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  All of those

         16  beautiful people that I see over there, can take a

         17  seat, go in.  We do not charge for sitting.  Can

         18  somebody up there tell me who you are?  Yes, who you

         19  are?

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (No

         21  microphone)

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  P.S. Is a little

         23  school, but all of you are very big.  How can you

         24  fit in a little school? Where is the school located?

         25

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  (No

          3  microphone)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Astoria, Queens.

          5  I wanted to move there, but they did not have a

          6  space for me.  Than I stay in Manhattan for that

          7  reason.  Do you think that you could find a place

          8  for me there?

          9                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, okay I am

         11  talking to you in a few minutes when we are finished

         12  here.  This is a Committee meeting of the Mental

         13  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcohol, Substance

         14  Abuse, and Disability Service.  And in this

         15  Committee you see many Council members on a staff

         16  who are doing the business of government to make a

         17  better society.  Welcome to New York City Council.

         18                 Okay.

         19                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Will you please raise

         20  your right hand, and swear or affirm that the

         21  testimony you will provide will be truthful in all

         22  concerns?

         23                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  I do.

         24                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Okay, you may begin.

         25                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  Thank you.
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          2  Chairwoman Lopez, distinguished members of the

          3  Committee, thank you for allowing me the opportunity

          4  to testify before you today on the continuing need

          5  for mental health services for New Yorkers still

          6  affected by the September 11th attacks.  My name is

          7  Meggan Christman, and I am a Policy Advocate for the

          8  Coalition of Voluntary Mental Health Agencies, the

          9  umbrella advocacy organization of New York's mental

         10  health community, representing over 100 non- profit,

         11  community based, mental health agencies in New York

         12  City and its surrounding environs.

         13                 Our members constitute a broad cross

         14  section of service providers, all sizes from very

         15  small to very large; treatment and rehabilitation-

         16  oriented; outpatient and residential; focused on

         17  linguistically and culturally specific populations,

         18  and on many special- needs, serving more than

         19  300,000 individuals in the five boroughs of New York

         20  City and its environs.

         21                 Since September 11th, I, myself, have

         22  focused on policy in and around mental health needs,

         23  following the September 11th attacks, including

         24  being a liaison to the Trauma Resource Network here

         25  in New York City, the New York City VOAD Mental
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          2  Health Subcommittee, and in overseeing a grant

          3  program the Coalition administers, which I will talk

          4  about a little later in my testimony.

          5                 A mental health professional recently

          6  told me, "The people who came for help first, were

          7  the ones who needed it the least.  It is the people

          8  who have not come forward yet, who still live in

          9  denial of the impact of that day on their mental

         10  health, and who we have not reached yet; they are

         11  the ones who need us the most."  In these cases,

         12  individuals are immobilized, traumatized by the

         13  events of that day, and consumed by anxiety. It is

         14  these people who still need our help, to resume

         15  their lives.

         16                 Our understanding as a Coalition of

         17  the continuing need for September 11th- related

         18  mental health services, comes primarily through our

         19  member agencies.  Over 60 of which were Project

         20  Liberty providers.  As Project Liberty wound down,

         21  the Coalition heard from its membership that there

         22  was a need to provide treatment services to

         23  individuals who needed more than the three to six

         24  brief sessions provided by Project Liberty.        Since

         25  9/11, the Coalition has raised close to $1 million,
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          2  which we have re- granted to provider organizations,

          3  to help special populations, such as children,

          4  under- served minority groups, uninsured, and

          5  undocumented individuals.  The most recent program

          6  was funded with money from the ACE Insurance

          7  Foundation, and redistributed to six agencies by the

          8  Coalition to continue Project Liberty type services,

          9  including outreach, crisis counseling, both

         10  individual and group, public education, plus an

         11  additional case management component, which we

         12  designed after Project Liberty funding expired.

         13                 What the results of this program

         14  demonstrated to us is that three years later, the

         15  need for crisis counseling and brief interventions

         16  has not disappeared.  Under the ACE Grant Program,

         17  over 1,500 crisis counseling sessions were provided

         18  as of June 30th to individuals, far surpassing the

         19  projected levels of service that agencies

         20  anticipated providing at the beginning of the grant

         21  period, which was January 1, 2004.

         22                 Unfilled needs still exist among

         23  those who are more seriously affected due to

         24  previous trauma, proximity to the events, loss of a

         25  loved one, or an inability to cope with this
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          2  tragedy.  These people may not have a serious and

          3  persistent mental illness now, but without

          4  treatment, their futures warrant deep concern.

          5                 Individuals are disabled by this

          6  event, and have not returned to their lives of

          7  September 10th functionality.  One of the indirect

          8  results of the Project Liberty Crisis Counseling

          9  Program, and its massive outreach efforts. Was the

         10  identification of many individuals who needed more

         11  comprehensive mental health services.  Without that

         12  outreach component, that Project Liberty included,

         13  identifying these people has become increasingly

         14  difficult, if not impossible.

         15                 Past the mid- point of the

         16  Coalition/ACE Grant Program, the six agencies that

         17  we fund are still identifying and contacting these

         18  hard- to- reach individuals.  One of the

         19  cornerstones of the success of this is outreach.

         20  One of the key components to Project Liberty was

         21  outreach.  Without this proactive approach to

         22  finding people who for myriad reasons do not access

         23  services, they may never be helped.  We know all too

         24  well what happens when mental health problems go

         25  untreated.  They multiply and worsen.  Then, add the
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          2  potential complications of substance abuse,

          3  addiction, violence, and physical health problems,

          4  just to name a few.  The loss of quality of life for

          5  these individuals is staggering, and so is the human

          6  and economic cost to our communities, if they go

          7  untreated.

          8                 In my testimony I have included

          9  several anecdotal examples, which I will not take up

         10  your time with now, but which you can review in the

         11  future.  And if you want any additional information,

         12  we are also happy to provide that.

         13                 I just want to talk briefly, about

         14  what we call beyond the bubble.  In addition to

         15  advocating for this continued outreach, we propose

         16  that any additional or renewed funding be focused on

         17  reaching New Yorkers who do not fit into an easily

         18  identified category of affected, high- need

         19  individuals.  We applaud the vital contributions of

         20  several organizations, like the Red Cross, and the

         21  September 11th Fund, which have provided services

         22  and coverage.  The scope of these programs is vast

         23  but it is specifically dedicated to groups defined

         24  as "directly affected", such as evacuees, the

         25  injured, family members, primary rescue and recovery
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          2  workers, et cetera.  The number of the people

          3  affected, obviously, greatly exceeds these

          4  categories of eligible recipients.

          5                 The Coalition through its re-

          6  granting program has targeted several of these

          7  populations not within the "bubble." One target

          8  population, that we have been able to reach, is

          9  children in private Muslim schools.  These students

         10  experience daily discrimination and harassment.

         11  Many of them have relatives who have been arrested,

         12  detained, or deported.  They have been ostracized

         13  and labeled as terrorists.   But with the help of

         14  our counselors, they are beginning to talk, to

         15  process, and to heal.              One of Project

         16  Liberty's strengths was its employment of community

         17  members with unique cultural and linguistic skills,

         18  who were able to reach hard- to- reach communities

         19  and to break through those barriers of stigma, that

         20  we are all very familiar with.

         21                 Other populations outside of this

         22  bubble include:

         23                 1.  Economically impacted;

         24                 2.  Individuals with disabilities;

         25                 3.  And individuals who are have
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          2  already been victims of violence and crimes.

          3                 These groups are especially

          4  vulnerable to the traumatic events and the stressors

          5  of living in a post- 9/11 New York City.

          6                 Next we would like to advocate for

          7  the renewal of Project Liberty funding, structured

          8  in such a way that it will be used effectively to

          9  meet these emerging late stage, long- term needs.

         10  We call it stage- wise services.  At this point,

         11  three years later, there is a difference between the

         12  services that were needed immediately following the

         13  event, the sort of crisis brief intervention

         14  services that were being provided, and the needs of

         15  those people who still need help now, three years

         16  after the event.

         17                 Although some individuals in New York

         18  continue to perk benefit from those crisis

         19  counseling sessions, the majority of the individuals

         20  who are affected require more.  They have diverse

         21  and complicated treatment needs that will most

         22  likely require longer- term and multi- dimensional

         23  treatment solutions. And we should be sensitive to

         24  that.

         25                 In addition to outreach, focus on
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          2  hard- to- reach populations and communities not

          3  targeted by other programs, as well as methods, and

          4  models of treatment appropriate for late stage and

          5  long- term care, we proposed a case management

          6  component that has proven extremely effective for

          7  individuals served by our programs.  Case management

          8  services, through our grant, allow agencies to refer

          9  people to a number of different entitlements,

         10  longer- term and different mental health treatments,

         11  vocational resources, immigration assistance, and

         12  many other supports which are vital to their mental

         13  health recovery.  All of these things are components

         14  to an individual's mental health and contribute to

         15  their healing.  We believe that case management

         16  would be vital to any successful continuation of

         17  Project Liberty Services.

         18                 And lastly, we understand that one

         19  rationale by the federal government for termination

         20  of the federal funding, is that after a substantial

         21  amount of time passes, the most acute and immediate

         22  phases of mental health recovery are over.  It is

         23  expected that the existing community mental health

         24  system will pick up the responsibility for remaining

         25  and related mental health burdens.  This may be true

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  in the case of a hurricane, or a flood, or other

          3  types of natural disasters, where the impact is

          4  geographically limited, and in more rural or

          5  suburban communities.  It does not apply, in our

          6  opinion, in the case of a man- made disaster, with

          7  such far reaching traumatic impact on a dense,

          8  culturally diverse urban environment, where the pre-

          9  9/11 waiting lists for existing mental health

         10  programs were already a mile long.  The federal

         11  government has no previous experience dealing with

         12  such situations.

         13                 Prior to September 11th there were

         14  capacity issues, funding shortfalls, and an

         15  overextended community- based mental health system.

         16  Expecting New York City agencies to absorb

         17  additional demands without additional resources,

         18  when they are already stretched to the breaking

         19  point, is unrealistic.  It is unfair to both those

         20  currently receiving services, and those in need of

         21  immediate attention.

         22                 These community- based agencies

         23  formed the very core of the mental health response

         24  to September 11th, and they must be supported

         25  fiscally in order to continue the innovative and
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          2  effective work that they have a proven track record

          3  of doing. They have navigated incredible fiscal,

          4  regulatory, legislative, and other obstacles, over

          5  the last three years, in order to do this work.  It

          6  is vital that the community- based mental health

          7  agencies that provide mental health services to New

          8  Yorkers before, during, and after a disaster are

          9  adequately prepared, supported, and informed.

         10                 Thank you so much for allowing me to

         11  testify today.  I would be happy to take any

         12  questions you might have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did you know if

         14  the children that attended the schools surrounding

         15  the September 11th site, receive any special mental

         16  health services?

         17                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  In addition to

         18  agencies that we currently fund, that do have

         19  programs in that area, I do know of several of our

         20  members who have received private philanthropic

         21  grants to continue some of that work.  It is, at the

         22  moment, sort of patchwork, and catch as catch can,

         23  as far as attracting some of those private

         24  foundation dollars.

         25                 I do also know, that the New York
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          2  City Board of Education has, to a limited degree,

          3  continued some of their funding for what they call

          4   "high- need" districts.  I know that the FEMA

          5  funding for that will end this year, as of December

          6  31, 2004.  From my understanding from the Board of

          7  Education, they will attempt to continue also with

          8  patchwork funding sources, as much as they can some

          9  crisis counseling in the schools.  But I know that

         10  they are limited in the funding that they have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The reason that I

         12  ask you that question, is because I have not found

         13  no evidence of any services provided to the area

         14  schools, from 14th Street this way.  The government

         15  closed 14th Street this way, the government decided

         16  that from 14th Street toward the South of the

         17  Island, was the crisis.  Than if the government

         18  decides that, then the government also have to

         19  acknowledge that the people who live in that area,

         20  and now in particular I am talking about the

         21  children in the school system, who were that day, in

         22  the schools, surrounding this area, need to receive

         23  some special attention.  And I believe that that has

         24  not happened.  I have not seen no proof of such a

         25  thing.
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          2                 And I am asking you, as the

          3  Coalition, if you have proof that the schools in

          4  these areas received that kind of services are

          5  provided to the children in a continual, not talking

          6  about the first couple of weeks, or the first month,

          7  I am talking about after.  And when those schools

          8  were reopened, what happened, and if those services

          9  were continued?  Do you know about this, or you do

         10  not have any answer to that?

         11                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  I do know of some.  I

         12  can speak, at least, to the members of the Coalition

         13  that I know are in Lower Manhattan.  And as part of

         14  their larger Project Liberty services, that they

         15  contracted with the State to provide, some of them

         16  were in those schools, voluntarily.  They went there

         17  on their own, prior to any Board of Education action

         18  that was taken. I can actually, if you would like,

         19  pull together some information about those agencies

         20  that we are familiar with, who did do that work, and

         21  get it to you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would love that

         23  information because the last hearing that I had in

         24  these chambers, in regard to this issue, the

         25  Commissioner indicated to me that there was $30
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          2  million left, $30 million left in the hands of the

          3  Board of Education to provide mental health

          4  services.  And that that money was held and was not

          5  released yet, because of issues of audit was taking

          6  place.  Then I have not heard of those $30 million

          7  being released to provide those services.  And I am

          8  interested to follow- up on that.  And I am planning

          9  to call another hearing on this issue to find out

         10  what happened with the $30 million, that were from

         11  the hands of the Mental Health Department put in the

         12  hands of the Educational Department, to be able to

         13  do that work.            I would love for you to

         14  provide me with that information, it would be highly

         15  appreciated.

         16                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  I will gladly pull

         17  together anything that we can and provide the

         18  Committee with it as soon as possible.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And in regard to

         20  your testimony, I only have to say something to you.

         21    There is a book that was written, I read it when I

         22  was a child, it is called "The Little Prince."  In

         23  that book is a piece of the little prince that said,

         24  what is really important is invisible to the eye,

         25  only the heart know about it.  And apparently, when
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          2  we talk about mental health services it is invisible

          3  to the eye of people, and they do not understand in

          4  government and the structures of power, that what is

          5  invisible to the eye, is the most important aspect

          6  of humans.  And we can go and create FEMA money in

          7  Florida when hurricane after hurricane come through,

          8  and we understand that, the devastation of a

          9  hurricane because we can see it.  We do not

         10  understand that it is a hurricane that goes through

         11  the mind of people when they see disaster, and

         12  sorrow, and sadness, and hopelessness.  We do not

         13  understand that that is a hurricane. And I hope that

         14  perhaps, everybody in Albany should start reading

         15  the Little Prince again, to see what is really

         16  important to the naked eye.

         17                 Thank you for your testimony.

         18                 MS. CHRISTMAN:  Thank you very much.

         19                 MS. DE PEDRO:  We have another

         20  witness?  This will be on Resolution 587.

         21                 MS. ZAMES:  Okay, I got a phone call

         22  this morning from Alexander Wood, who was asked to

         23  come, and he could not come.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It is okay.

         25                 MS. ZAMES:  And he asked me to
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          2  testify.  But I am still a little, when he spoke

          3  very quickly, I said yes I can do that, now I am not

          4  totally clear.  It had something to do with getting

          5  employment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The resolution in

          7  question is about declaring the month of October,

          8  the month of recognizing National Disability

          9  Employment Awareness Month.  In regard of people

         10  with disabilities, who as you know, they do not get

         11  such a good time, an easy time to get an- -

         12                 MS. ZAMES:  I can talk about that.  I

         13  can speak about that.

         14                 MS. DE PEDRO:  This is Ms. Frieda

         15  Zames.

         16                 MS. ZAMES:  Yes, I am Frieda Zames, I

         17  am- -

         18                 MS. DE PEDRO:  Disabled in Action.

         19                 MS. ZAMES: - - my main group is

         20  Disabled In action.  Although I am in several other

         21  groups.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We know.

         23                 MS. ZAMES:  Anyway, I wanted to talk

         24  about my employment, at this point I am retired.

         25  But I have worked for 39 years, and it was not easy.
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          2    The biggest problem was getting jobs.  In my day,

          3  there was, I do not know if there were any, there

          4  certainly were no federal laws against

          5  discrimination.  I walked with crutches, I was

          6  obviously disabled.  But I had very good grades in

          7  school, and yet, when I went for jobs I was

          8  consistently rejected.

          9                 I saw my fellow friends, you know,

         10  getting jobs right and left, but not me.  I finally

         11  got a job with Metropolitan Life.  Well actually

         12  when I went on my own, they rejected me.  Then I

         13  went to someplace called, Just One Break, and

         14  somebody in there knew a Vice President and got me a

         15  job. And I asked them, why didn't you accept me when

         16  I came by myself, you know, I am the same person.

         17  They said I failed the math test, which was an

         18  arithmetic test, and I was a math major.  So I

         19  really am dubious about failing the test.

         20                 Anyway, I worked there for 12 years,

         21  because I had had such a bad experience, even though

         22  I did not like the job, I was afraid to leave.  I

         23  took a big cut in salary when I was given the

         24  opportunity to teach math in a college, a

         25  university.  And, but this is something that I
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          2  wanted to do.  So I did it.  And I was there for 27

          3  years.  So, and I really liked that job very much.

          4                 But again, I got lower salary, lower

          5  status, the same thing with MetLife, I got lower

          6  salary and lower status, than people with my same

          7  qualifications, when I got the job with Metropolitan

          8  Life.  And when I got the job in my school, I also

          9  got lower status, and lower qualification, than

         10  people with the same, you know, the same, whatever.

         11                 Anyway, so this has been a pattern.

         12  Now the Americans with Disabilities Act was suppose

         13  to change all of this.  They say it is illegal.  I

         14  still think it happens.  The unemployment statistics

         15  for people with disabilities is still very high.

         16                 I heard a woman on television saying,

         17  a lawyer, she says, all you have to say is we found

         18  somebody more qualified.  This was on television,

         19  she was telling employers how to do it.  You know,

         20  so I still think that they look at you, they decide

         21  because you cannot walk very well, or you cannot see

         22  well, or whatever, that you cannot do the job.  That

         23  is one thing.

         24                 Then of course, if you have a hidden

         25  disability, an invisible disability, and get the
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          2  job, because they do not know you are disabled, and

          3  then you ask for accommodation, I know they find

          4  ways to fire you.  I remember being in school with a

          5  woman who told me that she had severe diabetes.  And

          6  she was suppose to stay in school one day for 12

          7  hours.  I could do it, I did it many times.  I mean

          8  many terms I stayed a day for 12 hours, and it is

          9  hard but I could do it.  She could not do it. And so

         10  what she said to me should I go and tell them.  And

         11  I said, if you do, they are going to fire you.  I

         12  knew they would fire her.  So she had to figure out

         13  another way.  I think she rented a room and took a

         14  nap in between.

         15                 But the thing is, that these are the

         16  measures that you have to go through.  So it is

         17  still a very serious problem. And I am not sure how

         18  you heal it.  And it is not only, I know that other

         19  groups, you know, my theory is that employers will

         20  do anything they can to get what they want, and I

         21  know it happens with other groups too.  But I have

         22  personally experienced it.  I know it goes on, and I

         23  do not know what can the City do to stop it.

         24                 Anything that you can do to stop the

         25  discrimination, I urge you to do.  I do not know how
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          2  better to say it.  I know that what happened to me

          3  happens to people still, and it is very

          4  discouraging.  I mean, I know there were times I

          5  thought, you know my problem is I am not brilliant,

          6  I am only smart.  You know, I have to be brilliant.

          7  If you are disabled that is what you have to be.  So

          8  you kind of blame yourself, you are not good enough.

          9    You know, that is the point.  And I really think

         10  that that is not good for people to feel that way

         11  about themselves.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And even when you

         13  are brilliant, we are willing to discharge that

         14  brain, and not use it for contribution for humanity.

         15    Isn't that incredible?

         16                 MS. ZAMES:  Yes, unfortunately.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then, thank you

         18  very much for your testimony.  The resolution that

         19  we just passed here is trying to enhance and bring

         20  attention to the fact, that discrimination must

         21  stop.  That people with disabilities are entitled to

         22  a job like anybody else.  And that we need to begin

         23  eliminating the barriers that are not allowing

         24  people with disabilities to access those jobs that

         25  you were talking about.
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          2                 MS. ZAMES:  You know the main thing,

          3  I think you need good people in the offices where

          4  people could make complaints, where people could

          5  actually, who are really sympathetic and will help

          6  people win their complaints, if they are made, and

          7  not poo- poo them.  That is where, I think it really

          8  is.  That is what I would end up doing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. ZAMES:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you very

         12  much.  God Bless you.  At this moment we are going

         13  to leave the record open for people to be able to

         14  vote.  I want to thank everyone who came to the

         15  hearing today, to the Council members, to the staff.

         16    And this hearing is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing adjourned at 11:15 a.m.)
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